THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Ralph K. Anderson, III, Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002102

Jermaine Mayweathers,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN v. STATE**

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Lindsey A. McCallister
Assistant Attorney General
1000 Assembly Street, Room 519
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-3970
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED
JUN 20 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR Court err in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel in failing to prepare for trial by not conducting a reasonable investigation?
- II. Did the PCR Court err in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel in failing to articulate an objectively reasonable trial strategy for not properly objecting to prejudicial evidence, not calling character witnesses to testify on Petitioner's behalf, and not asking the jury in the jury in her opening statement or closing argument to find Petitioner not guilty?
- III. Did the PCR Court err in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel for failing to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Background

On July 25, 2008, Petitioner and his father, William Jerido, were living with his father's girlfriend, Deborah Williams, and her two sons. App. 75, ll. 5-25. Petitioner was fifteen years old, and Ms. Williams' sons were seven-years-old ("K.P.") and five-years-old ("Child"). The minors were regularly left in the home with Petitioner as the caretaker. App. 121, ll. 5-23. That day, however, Petitioner called 911 after the five-year-old Child vomited and became non-responsive. EMS brought the Child to the emergency room at McLeod Regional Medical Center in Florence. After having surgery, the five-year-old Child ultimately died because of a traumatic brain injury. App. 135, ll. 19-22; App. 258, l. 1 – 262, l. 15; App. 271, l. 2 – 273, l. 5.

Three days later, Petitioner provided a statement to Investigator Renae Lowder Jenco of the Florence County Sheriff's Department. App 217, l. 19 – 218, l. 2; App. 226, l. 25 – 228, l. 21; App. 407, l. 1 – 414, l. 9. Petitioner admitted that he was alone with seven-year-old K.P. and the five-year-old Child but denied beating the Child. Dr. Susan Erin Presnell, a forensic pathologist, performed an autopsy on the Child and found the cause of death as "blunt force trauma to the head sustained in a beating." App. 135, ll. 20-22.

On July 30, 2008, the Twelfth Circuit Solicitor's Office filed a Juvenile Petition in the Florence County Family Court, charging Petitioner with Homicide by Child Abuse. App. 5, ll. 13-14. The Solicitor's Office then requested a waiver hearing to transfer jurisdiction of this charge from Family Court to General Sessions Court.

Juvenile Waiver Hearing (2008-JU-21-108)

On March 18–19, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to a juvenile waiver hearing before the Honorable Jerry D. Vinson in the Florence County Family Court. App. 1 – 342. Carrington

Wingard represented Petitioner, and Assistant Solicitors David A. Richardson, Jr. and John C. Jepertinger appeared on behalf of the State. The Family Court Judge ruled “that jurisdiction be waived in this matter; and that the juvenile [Petitioner] be presented [transferred] to the Court of General Sessions for prosecution.” App 341, lines 2-5.

Indictment

On July 16, 2009, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Jermaine Mayweathers for Homicide By Child Abuse. App. 935 – 937.

Trial

On September 21, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Ralph King Anderson, Jr. and a jury. App. 344 – 789. Carrington Wingard represented Petitioner, and Assistant Solicitors David A. Richardson, Jr., and John C. Jepertinger prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 779. The Trial Court sentenced Petitioner to thirty years (30) imprisonment, stating “[t]hankful is the word that I use from my heart in that this 5 year old occupies the position of an angel in heaven, and on behalf of this angel I pass the sentence today.” App. 788; App. 938.

Direct Appeal

On December 30, 2010, Appellate Defender Wanda H. Carter filed the Final Brief of Appellant, and Assistant Attorney General David Spencer filed the Final Brief of Respondent on December 21, 2010. App. 790 – 824. Petitioner argued only one issue on direct appeal: Whether the “Family Court Judge erred in transferring [Petitioner’s] case to General Sessions Court because although the crime charged against [Petitioner] (homicide by child abuse) involved a serious offense against another person; nonetheless, [Petitioner] had no prior serious criminal record, and he was an excellent rehabilitation candidate who was no threat to the public.” App. 793.

On December 9, 2011, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. *State v. Mayweathers*, Op. No. 2011-UP-549 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 9, 2011). App. 825 – 826.

First PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

On November 9, 2012, Petitioner filed an application requesting Post-Conviction Relief (PCR), alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel. App. 828 – 836. The State filed a Return to the PCR application on February 28, 2013. App. 837 – 842. Petitioner appeared before the Honorable William H. Seals on October 7, 2013, for an evidentiary hearing on the matter. App. 843 – 888. Henry M. Anderson, Jr., represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Joshua Thomas represented the Respondent. Petitioner, Diane Jerido (Petitioner's Grandmother), and Carrington Wingard (Trial Counsel) testified at the evidentiary hearing.

Petitioner Jermaine Mayweathers

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that he met with Trial Counsel "a couple times" prior to the waiver hearing. App. 847, l. 25 – 848, l. 2. Specifically, Petitioner testified that he met with Trial Counsel "twice" prior to trial after the waiver hearing and only once told Trial Counsel his version of what occurred. App. 848, ll. 3-12. Petitioner also testified that he met with two expert witnesses prior to trial. One defense expert witness on the Friday before trial, presumably Dr. Elizabeth Baker, and one Court ordered expert witness, Dr. Joel Heffler, who is a licensed clinical psychologist for the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) and performed a psychological examination on Petitioner for the waiver hearing. App. 848, l. 13 – 849, l. 5.

PCR Counsel then had Petitioner confirm the witnesses who testified at the juvenile waiver hearing: K.P. (Seven-year-old brother of the deceased); Deborah Williams (Mother of the deceased); Dr. Joel Heffler (Clinical psychologist at DJJ); Dr. Susan Erin Presnell (Forensic

Pathologist who performed the autopsy); Renae Lowder Jenco (Investigator at the Florence County Sheriff's Department who took Petitioner's Statement); Dr. Gerald Atwood (Pediatric Critical Care Specialist at McLeod Regional Children's Hospital); Andrea Foster (Intake Supervisor at DJJ); and Nancy Ingram (Petitioner's Aunt). App. 849, l. 16 – 850, l. 15. Petitioner reiterated that during the six-month period between the waiver hearing and his trial, he did not meet with Trial Counsel to prepare for trial until “[t]hat Friday before the trial” and that the only defense expert he met with was “[j]ust the doctor that I talked to that Friday.” App. 851, ll. 12-23.

Furthermore, Petitioner testified that Trial Counsel did not review all the evidence with him except for the autopsy photographs. App. 851, l. 24 – 852, l. 4. Petitioner also testified that Trial Counsel never discussed her strategy for suppressing prejudicial photographs. App. 852, ll. 5-7. Petitioner further testified that he did not speak with investigator Ron Smith but did speak “briefly” with investigator Frank White. App. 852, ll. 11-16.

Petitioner then testified that Trial Counsel advised against calling character witnesses to testify in his defense and against Petitioner testifying in his own defense. App. 852, ll. 17-25. Petitioner explained that Trial Counsel's rationale for advising him not to testify was because “she wanted the last word [in closing arguments].” App. 853, ll. 1-5. Notably, Petitioner testified that Trial Counsel never discussed a theme or theory of the case with him and that “[Trial Counsel] asked me that Friday [before trial] . . . how was she going to defend me, what was going to be my defense.” App. 852, ll. 6-10.

Petitioner testified that Trial Counsel “tried to get [him] to take a plea” and that the plea offer was for twenty years imprisonment. App. 853, ll. 11-15. Petitioner rejected the plea offer and informed Trial Counsel that he wanted to go to trial. App. 854, ll. 2-3. Petitioner emphasized that Trial Counsel never told the jury during her opening statement or closing argument to find him “not

guilty” and that Trial Counsel did not call any witnesses on his behalf. App. 854, l. 15 – 855, l. 3. Petitioner further testified that Trial Counsel told him that her decision not to call witnesses “was part of her trial strategy” and that Trial Counsel could have objected to more evidence. App. 855, ll. 4-20.

Additionally, Petitioner testified that Trial Counsel never discussed trial strategy with him during the trial and that he had never spoken with Trial Counsel’s co-counsel, Michael Bell. App. 855, ll. 12-25. Petitioner also testified that Trial Counsel should have objected to the admissibility of the belt because the State “supposedly tied the belt into [sic] the bruising.” App. 856, ll. 1-11. Specifically, Petitioner testified that “[the belt] made it look like – even though [the State] didn’t have my fingerprints on [the belt or] my DNA,” Petitioner used the belt to injure the deceased child. App. 856, ll. 5-14.

Notably, Petitioner testified, “I really feel like [Trial Counsel] should have let some of my family testify . . . so the jury could have known what type of person I am instead of just going off the picture that the prosecution painted.” App. 856, l. 22 – 857, l. 2. Through questioning, PCR Counsel pointed out that Petitioner’s aunt, Nancy Ingram, testified at the waiver hearing and that Petitioner believed her testimony would have been helpful for the jury to understand him better as a person. App. 857, ll. 11-16. Petitioner explained in further detail, “So it wouldn’t look like . . . I was a monster . . . [the jury] didn’t know me . . . [t]here was nobody to testify on my behalf to tell [the jury] what type of person I am, what type of upbringing I had.” App. 857, ll. 17-24.

Petitioner reiterated that, “not one time during trial [did Trial Counsel] say[] that I was not guilty” and that, “any smart juror would read through that . . . my lawyer isn’t even saying that I’m not guilty . . . I believe any jury is going to see that.” App. 857, ll. 6-10.

On cross-examination, Petitioner acknowledged that Trial Counsel reviewed the autopsy photographs with him but maintained that Trial Counsel never reviewed the discovery or discussed possible defenses with him. App. 858, l. 19 – 859, l. 7. Petitioner also indicated that he provided Trial Counsel with the names of his family members as character witnesses but that she never contacted them about testifying at his trial. App. 859, ll. 11-17. Petitioner recognized on cross-examination that he rejected the plea offer and requested a trial. App. 859, ll. 18-22.

Diane Jerido (Petitioner’s Grandmother)

Petitioner’s Grandmother, Diane Jerido, testified that she was present for the waiver hearing and for when Trial Counsel met with Petitioner to prepare for trial. App. 860, l. 11 – 861, l. 15. Ms. Jerido also testified that Trial Counsel met with Petitioner twice before trial and that the second meeting occurred on “the Friday before [Petitioner] went to court [for the General Sessions trial].” App. 861, ll. 16-25. Notably, Ms. Jerido stated that, “[w]hen [Trial Counsel] said that they didn’t have . . . any type of defense to raise, I raised the question, well, what’s the evidence against him.” App. 862, ll. 10-14.

Ms. Jerido explained that Trial Counsel “said that she had testimony from the doctor . . . the pediatrician, not the actual doctor that did the surgery, but from the pediatrician[.]” App. 862, ll. 14-17. Ms. Jerido further testified, “my question was where is the doctor that did the surgery . . . because my concern was that it never came out in the trial about [the deceased child] falling off the bed and nobody made a big issue of that, that he – the [the deceased] child hit his head the night before and he had a knot on his head and he bled through the night.” App. 862, ll. 17-22.

Ms. Jerido noted later during her testimony that the neurosurgeon “Dr. [Andrew Rhea] should have known what actually happened, the shape the [the deceased child] was in when he came to the emergency room . . . but Dr. [Rhea] never testified [at Petitioner’s trial].” App. 863, ll.

19-22. Ms. Jerido clarified that she believed the swelling depicted in the photographs of the deceased child were caused by the surgery performed by Dr. [Rhea] and not from “a beating”. App. 864, ll. 3-12. Ms. Jerido emphasized that the jury “thought [the swelling] was from a beating” and that Petitioner’s attorney did not attempt to challenge the causation of the injuries. App. 864, ll. 8-13.

Furthermore, Ms. Jerido testified that she was concerned about why the entire audio recording of the 911 call from Petitioner was not played for the jury and why Petitioner was alone when questioned by the police. App. 862, l. 23 – 863, l. 2. Ms. Jerido further testified that she had concerns with Trial Counsel not objecting to the admission of the belt “that was supposed to have been the weapon” used to injure the deceased child. App. 864, l. 20 – 865, l. 1. Notably, Ms. Jerido stressed that Trial Counsel “didn’t bring out that the child had several accidents prior [to that day], and maybe that last fall could have been what it was and not a beating from my grandson...[because] he had three prior accidents to the head.” App. 865, ll. 2-5.

Ms. Jerido testified that she told Trial Counsel about her desire to testify on Petitioner’s behalf and that Trial Counsel told her “[i]t wasn’t a good idea because she needed to have the last closing argument.” App. 865, ll. 11-16. Ms. Jerido explained that she would have informed the jury about “[t]he type of child that my grandson was, the way he grew up, and ... I felt like he wouldn’t have did anything like that, and the evidence was not there to show that ...he did this.” App. 865, ll. 17-22. Ms. Jerido also testified that several other members of Petitioner’s family were available and willing to testify as character witnesses. App. 865, l. 23 – 866, l. 1.

Notably, Ms. Jerido testified that her niece worked with one of the jurors and that the juror said “we didn’t know anything about the kid [Petitioner] . . . his lawyer [Trial Counsel] did not put anybody to say what type of kid he was... He could have been a street kid.” App. 866, ll. 4-11. Ms.

Jerido reiterated her belief that character witnesses were critical to Petitioner's defense: "I felt like that might have had a difference too in the way that [the jurors] see him...the way [Petitioner] called [911], he ran and he called [911]...[Petitioner] got the help [the deceased child] needed...[Petitioner] was at the hospital...[Petitioner] was concerned...None of that came out [at trial]." App. 866, ll. 13-17.

Carrington Wingard (Trial Counsel)

Trial Counsel admitted on direct examination that, after reviewing the evidence, she "viewed this as a circumstantial case since [Petitioner] had given law enforcement a statement before I was involved and had said he didn't know how the child had gotten injured." App. 869, ll. 16-18. Trial Counsel maintained that she sent the medical records "to [Dr. Elizabeth Baker] for the defense in Charleston" and later explained that Dr. Baker began as an expert on child sexual abuse and then she started developing into all areas of child abuse. App. 869, ll. 19-20; App. 886, ll. 17-21. Trial Counsel also maintained that Dr. Baker "reviewed those records and did not believe that she would be able to provide any helpful information for the defense[.]" App. 869, ll. 20-22.

Trial Counsel then explained that Dr. Baker met with Petitioner one time prior to trial: "I do know that we [Petitioner, Dr. Baker, Trial Counsel, and Petitioner's family] spent a long time with him as a group...[Dr. Baker] wanted to speak with [Petitioner] privately to see if she could develop anything that would be helpful to our defense, but ultimately, she could not." App. 870, ll. 14-7. Trial Counsel noted she informed Petitioner "that Dr. Baker could not come up with anything helpful for the defense." App. 870, ll. 20-22.

As to the defense investigation, Trial Counsel testified that she reviewed the transcript from the waiver hearing and spoke to Dr. Rhea who performed surgery on the deceased child. App. 871, ll. 21-25. Trial Counsel maintained that "Dr. [Rhea] could not provide anything helpful for the

State – for the Defense” and that “the State didn’t feel a need to call him . . . because of Dr. Atwood’s expertise.” App. 871, l. 25 – 872, l. 2.

When asked about the defense theory, Trial Counsel stated, “it really was a reasonable doubt [argument] . . . because it was a circumstantial [evidence] case.” App. 873, ll. 10-11. Trial Counsel also stated, “the other thing was the youth of this child and the situation that he had been put into.” App. 873, ll. 12-13. Trial Counsel maintained that she “went over all of the evidence that we [Petitioner and Trial Counsel] expected to have introduced” at trial. App. 873, l. 25 – 874, l. 1.

When asked why she never used the phrase “not guilty” during her opening statement or closing argument, Trial Counsel responded, “I just can’t remember whether I did or not...Normally, I would say, we ask you to return a verdict which speaks the truth...In this case, it would be not guilty...But again, I’ve not read the whole transcript.” App. 874, ll. 13-19. Trial Counsel also maintained that she reviewed Petitioner’s statement to police with Petitioner and challenged the admission of that statement at trial. App. 874, ll. 20-25.

Additionally, Trial Counsel admitted that she did not remember the admission of the belt when asked whether she objected to that piece of evidence. App. 875, ll. 1-6. Trial Counsel also explained that she “fully discussed the trial strategy of having the last argument” and not calling character witnesses with Petitioner. App. 876, ll. 16-24. Trial Counsel ultimately maintained that it was Petitioner’s decision not to present a defense at trial. App. 876, l. 25 – 877, l. 2.

Trial Counsel reiterated on cross-examination, “I did talk to Dr. [Rhea]”, that “Dr. [Rhea] was not helpful, and that “[h]e did not want to get involved.” App. 877, ll. 10-12. Trial Counsel testified that she “discussed all manner of how these injuries could happen” with Dr. Baker and that “we [Trial Counsel and Dr. Baker] really had started developing some – some pretty good scenarios at the time of the detention hearings, but then as we got all of the medicals (sic) [hospital records], it

[the defenses] just evaporated.” App. 878, ll. 10-24.

When asked whether she cross-examined Dr. Presnell or Dr. Atwood if swelling could have been caused during the surgery performed by Dr. Rhea, Trial Counsel testified “I can’t recall asking that specifically, but I am certain that I would have asked some distinction between the injury and the medical treatment.” App. 878, l. 25 – 879, l. 7.

PCR Counsel then asked Trial Counsel if she recalled specifically what she argued to the jury in support of reasonable doubt. In response, Trial Counsel asserted that it was a circumstantial evidence case and that “[she] was really kind of hoping that [the jury] would feel sorry for [Petitioner] because...the medical evidence was so overwhelming.” App. 882, ll. 2-8.

PCR Counsel also asked if Trial Counsel remembered whether she objected to the admissibility of the belt. Trial counsel replied that she could not remember. App. 882, ll. 14-22. PCR Counsel informed Trial Counsel that she never told the jury to find Petitioner not guilty. App. 883, l. 6 – 884, l. 9. PCR Counsel then questioned Trial Counsel about whether she sent Dr. Atwood’s testimony to Dr. Baker. Trial Counsel responded, “I think I sent the whole - - everything, the whole waiver [transcript], and then all the medical records, but I may have just sent the doctor’s testimony.” App. 885, ll. 15-19.

Notably, Trial Counsel admitted that Ms. Ingram’s testimony as a character witness at the waiver hearing was helpful to Petitioner and that she told the jury in closing arguments to not make a second tragedy by convicting Petitioner. App. 885, ll. 20-22; App. 887, ll. 8-11.

Order of Dismissal

On December 10, 2013, the PCR Court ruled in the Order of Dismissal that Petitioner failed to prove Trial Counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel and denied Petitioner’s PCR application. App. 889 – 898. Specifically, the PCR Court ruled against Petitioner on the following

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