STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

SEP 26 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002102

Jermaine Mayweathers,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101254

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court's finding Counsel was not deficient in conducting a pre-trial investigation in Petitioner's case.**

Petitioner alleges his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare for trial by not conducting a reasonable investigation. Specifically, Petitioner contends Counsel should have hired a mental health expert to challenge the State's evaluation performed by Dr. Heffler prior to the waiver hearing, should have hired a private investigator to interview neighbors and potential witnesses who may have seen Petitioner playing with Victim on the day of the incident, and should have obtained various documents such as the victim's toxicology report and notes from DSS and the investigator. Austin PWC pp. 17-18. The PCR court found Counsel conducted a proper investigation and adequately prepared Petitioner's case for trial, and there is probative evidence in the record to support such findings. App. pp. 895-96. This Court should therefore deny certiorari as to this issue.

"[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 235, 723 S.E.2d 610, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) (reversed on other grounds by Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014)). In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003). Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result. Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629

S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)).

To establish counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial, Petitioner must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses could have been pursued had counsel more fully prepared. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to timely request discovery because the contents of the documents were not presented at the PCR hearing); Moorehead, 329 S.C. at 334, 496 S.E.2d at 417 (holding trial counsel's failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result); Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997) (denying relief where applicant failed to present witnesses or specific testimony establishing applicant would have had a defense with additional time to prepare for trial); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 217, 481 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1997) (finding applicant was not entitled to relief where no evidence was presented at the PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial).

As an initial matter, the allegation regarding Counsel's failure to hire an independent mental health expert is not preserved as it was not specifically set forth in Petitioner's application or addressed in the PCR court's order of dismissal. App. pp. 828-36, 889-98. Further, Petitioner did not file a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, asking the PCR court to rule on the issue. Therefore, this contention is not preserved for this Court's review. See Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (citing Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983) ("As this Court has repeatedly noted, when an 'issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred.'").

Additionally, notwithstanding the preservation issue, Petitioner failed to establish Counsel was ineffective in investigating his case because the only testimony Petitioner presented at the evidentiary hearing was his own and that of his grandmother. App. p. 844 Petitioner contends Counsel should have hired a mental health expert to challenge the State's evaluation performed by Dr. Heffler prior to the waiver hearing, but Petitioner presented no testimony from any such expert at the hearing. App. p. 844. Petitioner next contends Counsel was deficient because she "appear[ed]" not to have hired a private investigator to interview neighbors and potential witnesses who may have seen Petitioner playing with Victim outside earlier in the day or heard noises coming the home the night before. Austin PWC p. 18. However, Petitioner did not present any testimony from these witnesses at the evidentiary hearing either. App. p. 844.

Finally, Petitioner contends Counsel's investigation was unreasonable because she did not "obtain Investigator Renae Lowder Jenco's notes, the chain of custody for the toxicology report, or view the physical evidence seized by law enforcement." Austin PWC p. 18. None of these items were introduced into evidence at the evidentiary hearing, nor has Petitioner offered any testimony as to their significance or how the outcome of the trial would have been different had Counsel obtained them. App. pp. 844-45. Therefore, this allegation is supported by nothing more than speculation, which is insufficient to meet Petitioner's burden of proof. See, e.g., Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) ("This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice. . . .").

In addition to Petitioner's complete lack of evidence to support these claims, the PCR court properly determined Counsel adequately investigated Petitioner's case because Counsel testified she felt Dr. Heffler's evaluation of Petitioner prior to the wavier hearing was "very, very

favorable.” App. p. 872. Thus, there was no reason for Counsel to hire an additional expert, as she was able to elicit helpful testimony from the State’s expert. See Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008) (finding counsel’s failure to procure expert witnesses did not constitute deficient representation when counsel vigorously cross-examines the State’s witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence). In this case, it was undisputed that Petitioner, Victim, and Victim’s seven-year-old brother were the only people in the home when Victim collapsed. App. pp. 875-76. Victim’s brother, K.P., testified against Petitioner for the State, naming Petitioner as the perpetrator. App. pp. 485-86. Counsel’s strategy was to challenge the timeline and the medical evidence as best she could. App. pp. 875-76. Counsel hired a medical expert to review the doctors’ testimony at the waiver hearing, as well as Victim’s medical records, and, even after interviewing Petitioner to confirm his version of events, that expert could not offer Counsel any helpful testimony or alternate explanation for Victim’s injuries. App. pp. 869-70, 878. She also spoke to the doctor who performed emergency surgery on the Victim, and he did not want to get involved. App. p. 877. According to Counsel, neither the surgeon nor the defense expert were able to offer any information to contradict the State’s timeline or suggest an alternate explanation for Victim’s injuries. App. pp. 870, 875-76, 878. Petitioner himself admitted he did not give Counsel the names of any witnesses or offer any defense except for the character witnesses. App. pp. 858-59.

Counsel testified the biggest obstacle in developing a defense was the incontrovertible medical evidence establishing Victim would have been incapacitated immediately after receiving the injuries. App. pp. 869-70, 878. Therefore, whether a neighbor heard a disturbance the night before or saw Petitioner and Victim playing together earlier in the day is irrelevant because the medical testimony established, and Petitioner’s own statement confirmed, Victim’s injuries

occurred immediately prior to the 911 call at 5:19 p.m. Additionally, as Petitioner himself noted, Counsel pointed out none of the physical evidence seized from the home implicated Petitioner as neither his fingerprints nor his DNA were found on the belt. App. pp. 610, 856. Counsel cannot be deficient for failing to investigate witnesses and evidence which were irrelevant and could not be used to establish a defense for Petitioner. Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 108 (2011) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691) (“An attorney need not pursue an investigation that would be fruitless, much less one that might be harmful to the defense.”).

The PCR court found Counsel’s testimony on these issues to be credible, while also finding Petitioner’s testimony not credible. App. p. 895. Such a determinations are to be given great deference by this Court. Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)) (explaining this Court “gives great deference to a PCR judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved”). All of the foregoing constitutes probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court’s finding Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proof regarding his allegation that trial counsel did not properly prepare for trial,” and therefore, Counsel was not deficient. App. p. 895. Further, because Petitioner failed to introduce at the evidentiary hearing any of the testimony or documents he alleges Counsel should have obtained, he has not met his burden of proving prejudice. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. at 513, 511 S.E.2d at 66 (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to timely request discovery because the contents of the documents were not presented at the PCR hearing); Skeen, 325 S.C. at 217, 481 S.E.2d at 133 (finding applicant was not entitled to relief where no evidence was presented at the PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial). Certiorari should therefore be denied as to this issue.

**II. There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court's finding Counsel was either not deficient or articulated reasonable trial strategies to explain her decision not to object to the admission of the belt, declining to call character witnesses on Petitioner's behalf, and failing to use the words "not guilty" in either her opening or closing argument.**

Petitioner asserts Counsel was deficient for failing to properly object to prejudicial evidence (specifically, belts found in the home), failing to call character witnesses on Petitioner's behalf, and failing to ask the jury to find Petitioner not guilty in either her opening or closing statement. Austin PWC p. 20. However, after carefully considering these allegations, the PCR judge denied Petitioner's application, correctly finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in showing either deficiency or prejudice because trial counsel articulated reasonable trial strategies in response to each of Petitioner's allegations. App. pp. 895-96. Certiorari should therefore be denied as to this issue.

"Counsel's performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel 'rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.'" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. Further, "[d]ecisions primarily involving trial strategy and tactics may be made by trial counsel. Examples of such decisions include 'which jurors to accept or strike, *which witnesses should be called on the defendant's behalf, what evidence should be introduced, whether to object to the admission of evidence, [and] whether and how a witness should be cross-examined.*'" Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 48, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Sexton v. French, 163 F.3d 874, 885 (4th Cir.1998)) (emphasis added). There is a strong presumption that counsel's decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)).

“Accordingly, when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). See also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Further, on review, this Court “gives great deference to a PCR judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved.” Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)).

As to the admission of the belt, Counsel testified the belt was seized as part of the State’s investigation, and the record reflects it was properly authenticated at trial. App. pp. 417, 591. Thus, Counsel would have had no grounds to exclude the belt at trial, and she cannot be deficient for failing to object to its admission, although she did object to the sufficiency of the State’s foundation linking it to Petitioner, which was overruled. App. pp. 517-18. The record also indicates Counsel brought out on cross-examination that Petitioner’s prints were not on the belt, and Petitioner’s mother sometimes used the belt to spank Victim. App. pp. 491-92, 610-11, 887. Further, Dr. Atwood testified it was possible the bruises from the belt and the head injury were not inflicted simultaneously. App. pp. 673-74. Counsel stressed the lack of physical evidence, include

any link between Petitioner and the belt, in her closing argument. App. pp. 753-56. Therefore, even if Counsel was deficient in failing to object, the admission of the belt was not prejudicial to Petitioner. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 (“An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.”).

Regarding Counsel’s decision not to call any witnesses, Counsel testified she explained the risks of calling family members as character witnesses with Petitioner and his family, and she consciously chose not to call them because she felt it would open the door into some of Petitioner’s past criminal history and problems at home and because she wanted to have the last argument to the jury. App. pp. 876, 885-86. She testified Petitioner also understood the benefits of not presenting a defense and having last argument. App. pp. 876-77. Thus, the PCR court correctly found Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not calling these witnesses. See, e.g., Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320-21, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (“In most PCR cases in which the applicant seeks relief for trial counsel’s failure to call witnesses, the PCR court’s analysis—and the analysis by the appellate court— is focused on the strategic considerations of counsel in balancing the potential benefits of calling a particular witness against the identifiable risks. . . . A PCR court’s analysis of counsel’s strategic decisions must be ‘highly deferential’ to counsel’s judgment, and ‘a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.’”) (citations omitted).

Finally, Petitioner contends Counsel was deficient because she did not use the words “not guilty” in her arguments to the jury. Austin PWC p. 22. However, Counsel opened the trial by telling the jury what happened to Victim was “an accident,” and that the story K.P. initially gave was that Petitioner had not done anything to Victim at all. App. p. 479. In closing, Counsel began

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